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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

'STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 -

‘Business review

The prihcipal activiiy of the Company is the manufacture and sale of cement primarily for use in the ready mixed
- concrete and manufactured concrete products industries. The Company also acts as an intermediary agent for
sales of Regen products by a fellow subsidiary undertaking Civil and Marine Limited to third party customers.

The turnover for the year was £324 999,000, an increase of 22% compared with 2021, generating an‘operating
" profit of £15,491,000 (2021 £3,832 000) The increase in turnover and operating proflt was driven by sales price
increases.

_Construction demand recorded a gradual loss of momentum towards the latter part of 2022 as a result of
uncertainties in the macroeconomic environment. Sales volumes demand reduced compared with the prior year.
. Selling prices were increased to maintain margins and to offset pressures as a result of the war in Ukraine,
affecting energy and fuel prices plus the availability of components from suppliers.

During the year the Company impaired its tangible fixed assets by £3,958,000, following a review which identified
a site |mpacted by local market conditions. This has been treated as an exceptional item. .

-Significant mvestments were made to reduce C02 emissions as part of the Company’s net zero targets
~including a new addition to the main burner at the Company’s Padeswood site costing £2,173,000 as part of an
.initiative to reduce the usage of fossil fuel.

Directors’ statement Qf compiiance with their duty to promote the success of the Copﬁpany .
‘Section 172(1) Statement

This report sets out how the Directors have complied with section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 in making
their strategic decisions during 2022 and in considering the likely long-term consequences of those decisions
and the need to maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct. This has involved engagement
with all of the Company's key stakeholders to ensure that the Directors understand their views and interests
when makmg decisions. and when developing the Company's purpose, values and strategy. The Directors
ensure that they listen to and consider the interests of the Company's employees and that it fosters relationships
with the Company's customers and suppliers. The Directors work to ensure the sustainability of the Company's
operations within local communities in the context of the potential impact on the local environment.’ .

Hanson UK Sustainability Policy

Effective management of safety, health, environment, quality, carbon reduction and responsible sourcing is of
key importance to the sustained success of the Company's business. The Company's sustainability objectives -
are reviewed regularly and communicated regularly to employees, contractors, visitors, key stakeholders and our
supply chain to inform and promote wider adoption of responsible practices. As a minimum, as a Hanson UK
company, the Company complies with all applicable law and regulatory requirements. Cooperation -in the
“implementation of Hanson UK's sustainability policy is a condition of employment, partnership and supply.
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITEb

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
'FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

- Directors' statement of compllance W|th their duty to promote the success of the Company
(contmued)

Hanson UK Sustainability Policy (continued)

Full details of Hanson UK's Sustainability Policy can be found on the Hanson UK website at www.hanson.co.uk.
The policy sets out Hanson UK's sustainability focus in terms of: ensuring business and product innovation by
engaging with customers and stakeholders to continually improve Hanson UK's sustainability performance and
adopt an integrated approach to achieve the highest standards in complying with 1ISO 9001, 14001, 45001,
45003 and 50001 together with BES 6001, National Highway Sector Scheme 16 and relevant CE certification
schemes: ensuring health, safety and wellbeing in the workplace; ensuring -environmental responsibility to
collaborate with suppliers and fulfil Hanson UK's share of responsibility to limit global temperature rise to below
1.5°C; conserving natural resources and maximising the use of alternative materials and recycling; being a good
neighbour and fulfilling our social value requirements based upon transparency and consultation, staff
volunteering on community projects, with local jobs and local procurement and being a fair, respectful and
inclusive company.

During 2022 the Company continued to roll out its 2030 commitments in relation to the six key sustainability
topics: business and product innovation; health, safety. and wellbeing; environmental responsibility; resource use
and the circular economy; being a good neighbour; and fairness, inclusion and respect. The 2022 Sustalnablllty
" Report sets out the 2030 targets and records progress towards attainment of these objectlves :

In 2022 the Company updated and revised its social value policy which is available on the Hanson UK-website
www.hanson.co.uk. The social value policy is founded on our core values and responsible leadership principles
and applies to all areas of our business, our employees and all parties who undertake activity on our behalf. It
. focusses on six key areas of social value: collaboration, co-equality, championing local economies, community,
climate ahd communication. It follows the national TOMS (Themes, Outcomes and Measures) framework and
integrates our health, safety and wellbeing, and environmental commitments. A steering group ensures the
principles of the policy are imbedded within the business. During 2022 further work was undertaken to enhance,
" measure and record Hanson UK's social value impact and we achieved certification to Social Value UK's Leve! 1
‘Commit’ stage of accreditation. A ‘Let’'s Talk Sustainability’ webinar was also held involving stakeholders from
across the industry which explored social value and its incréasing importance in the construction sector.

12022
uring 2022 the Company continued or completed various strategic investments.

At Ketton, a new conveyor was installed to take clinker from the cooler to the clinker storage facility at a total cost
of approximately £1,200,000, of which £782,000 was incurred during the year. This is energy-saving and will
contribute to improved kiln reliability. An additional satellite burner for the kiln was also.installed, which will
S|gn|f|cantly increase the plant's overall capacity to use alternative fuels. This contributed to a 7% increase in
alternative fuels usage, a record level for the plant. It is expected that the alternative fuel rate usage will increase
to over 85% in 2023. :

At Padeswood, the new bypass was completed and successfully comm|SS|oned which enabled the plant to
increase its overall alternative fuels usage. In addition, a new project was commenced to further increase the
. use of alternative fuels. The kiln will be able to burn up to 90% alternative fuels thereby reducmg CO2 emissions.

The Company undertook engineering fea3|b|I|ty studles for carbon capture technology at Padeswood as part of -
the Industrial Decarbonisation Challenge. Following shortlisting of the cluster sequencing process project by the
Government Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, work commenced on preliminary front-end
engineering design (PreFEED) studies to develop the process design and prove the concepts generated in the
feasibility study can be implemented. A final funding decision is expected in 2023 with an industrial carbon
capture support contract agreement to be offered in 2024. Th|s prolect can only proceed W|th government
funding. - . ,
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- CASTLE CEMEN1; LIMITED .

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Directors' statement of comphance with their duty to promote the success of the Company
(contlnued) '

2022 (continued)

The Company carried out further trials to reduce CO2 including finding alternative raw materials to replace
pulverised fuel ash or the use of slag, a waste product from steel production, as a raw material. The Company
will continue to focus on reducing CO2 from its processes by finding more’ replacement products for its exastrng
fuels and raw materials, as well as partrcrpatmg in mdustnal trials.

At Ribblesdale, a tnal was also conducted at Rrbbtesdale to use recycled concrete paste in the wet gas scrubber
o reduce CO2, which was very successful.

In general, all of the Company's operatronal investments are made in the interests of ensuring iong term
sustainable production to service our customers and the continuity of safe operations for our workforce,
delivering value for our shareholders and developing meaningful partnerships with our suppliers. Investments in
new operations facilitate reductions in energy usage water usage and emissions, lessening the impacts on both
the environment and communities.

' Information. relating to the Company's investments, improvements, performance, outlook and sustainability was
presented to stakeholders through various channels. For employees, this included the Employee Forum, a series

of virtual town hall talks presented by the Hanson UK chief executive. officer, driver forums, driver engagement: . .

"days'and management meetings with trade unions. Regular video updates from the CEO and business line
managing directors on business performance and strategy were provided to the workforce i in 2022.

The Company contlnued with the Hanson UK Falrness Inclusion and Respect steering group whrch implements
rnrtratlves to help improve diversity and gender balance within the workforce.

-2022 saw a gradual return to more normalrsed working practices for the commercial teams, but with a strong
emphasis on making our customer interactions as efficient as possrble This meant that team. members had
both digital and-physical customer meetlngs as appropnate :

For the local communities where the Companys three cement production sites are. situated, " stakeholder
engagement included the distribution of each site's local Open-Door community newsletter and communication
through each site's community webpage. Site visits and tours.continued. throughout 2022.  All site meetings and
local face to face liaison meetings with community councillors were resumed and held as they were before the
start of the pandemic. '

Further investments and’ rmprovements in the mterest of sustarnablllty and the Iessenrng of the potentlal for
|mpact on communities and the envrronment include the following:

. The Company uses domestic and industrial waste derived fuels in its cement kilns, which reduces fossil
fuel usage. The Company also manufactures cements containing less clinker and a higher proportion of
limestone in order to reduce the level of carbon, embedded CO2, in our product. The Company has a clear focus
towards 2030 and beyond and is developing masterplans to-meet the challenges: of reducing CO2 emissions
working together with our u|timate parent company.

. The Company ensures that waste bypass dust from |ts cement plants is diverted from Iandf Il and has
undertaken research and development to convert this rnto an inert non-hazardous product.

The Company has also invested further in the Expert Systems platform for cement to enhance digitalisation, -
reduce energy usage and increase process efficiency, more particularly in a planning tool to allow the plants to -
plan production to meet customer needs but also utilise the low power periods during the day. Furthermore, the
Company is proud of the continuing operatron of the 13MW (gross) solar mstallatlon at Ketton; which represents
a long-term partnershlp with the Company's suppliers.. : :
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

‘ STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)'

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
. . * {
Directors' statement of compllance with thelr duty to promote the success of the Company
(contlnued)

2022 (continued)

Continuing improvement in the Company's health and safety performance in 2022 included a clearly defined
.health and safety improvement plan which was reviewed monthly by the Managing Director and whi¢h was.
focused on the key business risks and actions required to either eliminate or reduce them. Other improvements -
included tackling Potential Fatal Incidents (PFlIs) and Lost Time Incidents (LTls) to ensure both learnlngs and
- remedial actions, as well as ensuring the establishment of root cause analysis for accidents and severe near
hits, with employees being trained in basic incident investigation and root cause analysis techniques. The .
) Company continued to recognise the importance of mental health and wellbeing with the further training of
employees in this area carried on during 2022. A new health and wellbeing advisor role was mtroduced into the-
sustainability team to continue to support the health and wellbeing strategy.

Steps taken during 2022 to ensure maintenance of a reputation for. high standards of business conduct included
training staff in ‘many different compliance areas, covering our Code of Business Conduct, corruption and
anti-bribery, competition law, data protection and modem slavery, all supported by a regime of policies and
- procedures that underpin the Company's purpose and values; the compliance program is supported by an online A
- reporting platform that allows concerns to be reported and investigated outside of reporting lines.

Further information relating to the Company's work on sustainability, new rail links, site management contact
details, arranging site visits, carbon reduction, energy,  raw materials and water usage reduction, waste
management, biodiversity, applicable quality processes, career opportunities and the minutes of each site's
liasison meetings can all be found on Hanson UK's' websites www.hanson.co.uk, careers
www.hanson-careers.co.uk and community www.hanson-communities.co.uk websites.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Market Demand Risk

The demand for many of the products produced by the Company is closely linked with economic conditions, )
specifically levels of infrastructure and housing construction output. As a result, depressed economic conditions
. in the United Kingdom could have an adverse effect on demand for and prlcmg of the Company s products which
could result in reduced sales and profits. .

The Company works to build strong relatlonshlps with its customers and to prowde a high quallty serwce to
them. , . .

' Regulatory Risk

‘Government policy relatlng to the development of transport mfrastructure and housing have a significant effect
on demand for the Company's products and, as a result, the Company’s profitability. Decreases in government
-funding or in the allocation of those funds for transport infrastructure and housing projects could reduce the
funds available for spending on the Company'’s products, therefore potentially reducing sales and profits.

Changes-in government policy or legislation relating to planning, the environment, health and safety and industry
related taxes could significantly affect the Company's regulatory- compliance and other operating costs.
Numerous governmental approvals are required for the Company's operations. In the past the Company has

- been required to make significant capital expenditure to comply with planning, water, air and solid and hazardous
waste regulations. The Company may be required to make similar expenditure in the future to ensure business
continuity and these are most likely to be in the areas of Energy and Carbon in the near future. -
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CO_NTINUED) _

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 .

‘ Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

-Seasonality risk

Extended periods of inclement weather can result in a material reduction in demand for the Company’s products.
It may also impact the Companys ability to produce products and consequently result in reduced revenues and
profits.

Energy risk

The Company is a significant purchaser of energy and fuel for the processing and transport of Aits'products.

Increases in these costs can significantly impact the Company’s costs and disrupt its operations. The profitability
of the Company could be adversely affected if the Company was not able to recoup such costs in the prices of its

products. The Company also attempts to limit its exposure to these risks by .entering into hedges where h

-appropriate. Transport logistics play an important part in the Company's supply chain. Any material disruption to,
or lack of availability, of such transport support could significantly impact operating costs and reduce profitability.

The Company makes use of purchase contracts and is also part of the wider buyrng group for energy in addrtron
the Company has invested in facilities to enable the use of alternative fuels in rts productron process.

Credlt risk

" Credit risk i_sAthe risk of the Company suffering from the failure of a counterparty to settle a debt to the Company.
The Company limits financial credit risk by ensuring appropriate credit checks are carried out on new customers.-
Existing customers are actively monitored and steps taken to recover overdue debts.

Production risk

The Company's production facilities are highly * automated and the failure of a key component can cause
productron to temporarrly cease, with the potentra| impact on cost and supplies to customers.

The Company has robust assessment programmes for all equipment whrch includes scheduled marntenance
shut downs. Furthermore the Company maintains stocks of critical spares.

' Systems compliance risk

The implementation of software to improve the efficiency and effectrveness of various busrness processes is an
important contributor to the Company's ongoing operations. Failure to design, select appropriate suppliers and
implement such systems effectively could result in unplanned costs or reduced levels of customer satisfaction.
This could adversely affect the Company’s results and profitability. The Company has a strong development and
implementation process with a dedicated IT team to manage and mitigate any risk in this area.

Environmental risk

" The Company’s impact upon the environment or the effects of climate change could expose the Company to
regulatory breaches, significant disruption, reputational risk or a reduction in demand for our products. Emission’
restrictions and the transition to a low carbon economy could impact performance. The Company closely
monitors the latest legislation and enacts internal policies to ensure the envrronmental impact of the business is
minimised. : ‘
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Principall risks and uncertainties (continued)
Pensions risk

The Company operates a defined beneﬁt pension scheme (the “Scheme”), which is closed to future accrual. The
amounts reported in the accounts for the Scheme are based on advice from independent actuaries.

Results under IAS 19 can change dramatically depending on market condltlons and will lead to volatility in the '
net pension asset on the Company's Balance Sheet and in Other Comprehensive Income. The actuarial
. assumptions have been set so that they represent a best estimate of future expenence from the Scheme. In
_practice, the true costs for the Scheme could be different to those shown. -

The Scheme exposes the Company toa number of risks, the most srgnlflcant of whrch are:

o ‘Asset volatility - the Scheme holds a significant proportion of growth assets, WhICh .though expected to

outperform corporate bonds in the long-term, create volatility and risk in the short-term. The allocation to
. growth assets is monitored to ensure it remains appropriate given the Scheme'’s long term objectives.

. Changes in bond yields - A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the .
Scheme's liabilities for accounting purposes, although this ‘will be partlally offset by an increase in the
value of the Scheme’s bond holdings.

. Inflation risk - A significant proportion of the Scheme’s benefit obllgatlons are linked to inflation.

"~ Meanwhile, the majority of the assets are either unaffected by or only loosely correlated with mflatlon
i meaning that an increase in inflation will also increase the deficit.

. Life expectancy -  The majority of the Scheme’s obligations are to provide beneflts for the life of the

member, so increases in life expectancy will result in an increase in the liabilities. -

Cyber Security Risk -

Due to the current geopolitical situation and the increasing prevalence of cyberattacks as a business model, the
threat of attack, especially from external sources, is significantly heightened. This could expose the Company to-
srgnrfrcant downtime, which could adversely affect the Company s performance.

To counteract this threat level, Hanson UK has recently appointed an Information Security Officer who will create i
and lead the Information Security Programme in the UK, intended to improve the maturity of Hanson UK'’s
people, processes, and technology measured against the NIST (National Institute of Standards and Technology)
Cyber Security Framework. This will include cyber education for all employees, introducing information security
compliance check-points into the IT Demand/Delivery Process and supportlng the creation and testing of
busrness contmurty plans at regular intervals. .

Continuous improvements to the Company’s IT networks evidence developments in cyber resrllence to ensure -
security and stability are marntamed ata hrgh IeveI

This report was approved by the board on 26 'Septemb,er 2023 and signed on its behalf.

WF Rogers
Secretary -
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 CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT

" FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors present their report anq the financial statements for the y'ear ended 31 December 2022.
Results and dwrdends
The proflt for the year, after taxation, amounted to £13,657,000 (2021 - loss £3, 023 000)

During the year, actuarial losses after taxation of £21,423,000 (2021 - £19,744,000 gains after taxation)-were
recognised in Other Comprehensive (Expense)/income in relation to the Castle Pension Scheme. :

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2021 - £nil).
" Future 'developm»ents‘

Sales price and costs continue to be managed carefully to alleviate the impact_ of reduced demand and
uncertainty in energy and consumables, and margins are being maintained as a result.

Significant reductions in the use of fossil fuels is contnbutmg to lowering CO2: -output in-line with the Company's
investment plan. A Carbon Capture and Storage prOJect is underway and progressmg ‘with the government to
further reduce CO2 emissions.

Uncertainty concerning energy, raw material availability and costs remain against the backdrop of high inflation
and increasing interest rates which have impacted market activity. The Company is confident that demand will
return and that the Company is in a good position to maximise volume and margins through its plant capabilities
and strong customer base. Current margins and a plpelme of carbon reducmg investments provide a solid
- platform to capitalise on any market upturn

Going concern

On the basis of their assessment of the Company s fmancual posmon Hanson UK s divisional cash flow forecasts
up to December 2024 and relevant enquiries, the Directors believe that although there is still a lot of uncertainty
concerning energy, raw material. availability and costs as a result of the impact of the Ukraine crisis, the
- Company continues-to see demand for its products and growth in its revenue. Therefore.no material uncertainty
: eX|sts that may cast S|gn|f|cant doubt on the ablllty of the Company to continue asa going concern.

The Directors have noted that the ultimate parent undertakmg, Heidelberg Materials AG, has made an
assessment of identifiable risks on their global business activities, including the on- gomg impact of the Ukraine

- crisis, the volatility in energy and raw materials markets, inflationary pressures, rising interest rates and the
overarchlng impact these factors have on construction and consumer markets, and continues to operate on a
going concern basis.

Thus the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and .they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the financial statements . .

Directors
The Directors who served durihg the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements were:

E A Gretton

M D Barlow

S L Willis

J P Morrish

A Quilez Somolinos
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" CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

DIREC_TORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

. Research and development actuvntles

"The Company carries out research and. development on its own behalf to advance the marketability of ‘its
products. Research costs are written off in the year in which they are incurred. Development costs are
capltallsed if they meet the criteria of IAS 38 Intanglble Assets. .

Engagement with stakeholders

~ The Directors’ statement on compliance with their duty to promote the success of the Company mcluded within
the Strategic Report mcludes a summary of how the Company engaged with its key stakeholders during 2022.

Engagement with employees

The Company takes a number of measures to ensure proactive and meaningful engagement with: its workforce -
this applies to all employees and all companies within Hanson UK. : . :

Hanson UK values engagement with its workforce, as a key stakeholder. The engagement takes place on many
different levels, using a variety of formal and informal measures, which facilitates two-way dlalogue to ensure
employees have a direct voice to the executlve team.

An employee forum has been established, W|th 11 active employee representatlves representing the various
business lines and-staff functions.. Historically, the forum met once a year with additional meetings held at the
request of either the employee representatives or management. However weekly meetings with the employee
forum were held from the start of the COVID-19 crisis to keep the representatives abreast of chariging policies,
business impact and performance with the forum members raising questions and providing feedback on behalf
of their constituents. Following the pandemic it was agreed that more regular contact had been both beneficial
and essential and that fortnightly meetings should now continue to be held to most effectively utilise the forum.

'Four members ‘of the forum also sit on the ultimate parent company's European Works Council, which the
Directors believe represents a positive opportunlty for the UK workforce to.make |ts voice heard directly at the
level of the ultlmate parent company.

The employee forum acts as a key information and discussion channel between employees and executive
management. At the September 2022 meeting, . Hanson UK's chief executive officer (CEO), together with
business line managing diréctors, provided detailed updates on health and safety progress and related
improvement - plans, on sustainability and -our commitment to achieving carbon neutrality, on business
performance and market outlook, as well as on the core objectives of our strategy.

Employee representatives raised numerous points of discussion during the meeting, with employees invited to

~anonymously submit questions in advance. These processes lead to -a combination of management
‘commitments, reviews and explanations on a wide range of safety, environmental, operational and commercial
matters. Minutes are taken which are published on the Hanson UK intranet, together with the questions and
answers. The Directors believe that the employee forum provides a positive and transparent means of engaging
‘with the workforce as a key stakeholder in the mterests of the long-term sustamablllty of the Company and its
operatlons -

In addition to the employee forum, the CEO delivers a national Ieadershlp communication roadshow each year
_These take the form of informa!l town hall talks, with the CEO providing detailed updates to staff regarding
business -performance, strategy and the priorities for the year ahead, as well as giving the workforce the
opportunity to put questions directly to the senior management in attendance. -

Other measures to facilitate effective engagement with employees include the use of regular business -update
videos by executive management, as well as the quarterly publication of Hanson UK's Team magazine, which is
sent to every employee's home address, and includes regular updates through the year on business
performance and strategy Hanson UK's Team magazine also communicates to employees the many positive
measures Hanson UK takes to support our local communltles as key stakeholders in the context of the Iong-term
sustalnablllty of our operatlons
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Engagement with employees (continued)

Additionally in November 2022 Hanson email accounts were rolled out to all blue-collar operational staff which
has now given them access to all our digital communications, thereby improving our communication channels
and allowing engagement with the wider workforce.

The Directors also vaiue the consultatlons undertaken with trade unions, setting out detailed business
. performance updates when meeting with them. Driver forums have also been established, allowing focused
engagement and briefings with the personnel in the supply chain. The Head of Human Resources supervises all
. of these processes and as a member of the Hanson UK executive team reports back on a monthly basis on
. feedback- received from employees and on how the Company's values and culture are embedded within the
workforce. Employee surveys have also been carried out periodically as a further means of monitoring the
culture and values within our workforce, leading to the development of plans for managers to address feedback
received. The 2022 employee survey showed a 5% further increase in employee engagement from 68% to 73%.
The results were cascaded throughout the organisation and action plans are developed and implemented within
each business line as well as Hanson UK. The next survey is due to be ¢arried out in May 2024, :

Hanson UK values the |mportance of visible felt leadership in managing allits operations. This involves executlve
management regularly attending site, to lead by example and engage with staff with regard to the vision, values
and cuiture of Hanson UK, -in order to ensure the health and safety of our employees and to monitor the degree
to which our values are embedded within our operations.

A further component of engagement with employees is the annual Hanson UK return to work carried out on the
first working day of the New Year, with a Back to Work safety stand down before the year's operations
commenced, in order to cascade the 2022 year end performance and to communicate the plans for 2023. Each
business line has put in place health and safety |mprovement plans which cover a range of topics throughout the
year.

To continue to support our commitments to Health and Wellbeing a new Health and Wellbeing Specialist role
was introduced in 2022 to assist with strategy planning, communication and engagement in this area. There are’
regular email circulations, lunch and learn sessmns concernlng Wellbeing topics and a published calendar of
events for the year. .

The health and wellbeing of employees are prlontles WhICh impact the .success of the business. The steering.
group advocates mental and physical wellness for everyone at Hanson UK and encourages employees from all
operations to become involved. Specialist Start the Conversation training is provided to line managers and
supervisors and the Company works closely with the charity Mates in Mind to raise awareness of mental health
issues among staff and provide mental health first aid training, so that managers feel able to recognise warning
signs and ensure support. Additionally, over 150 mental health first aiders have been trained across the business
and refresher tralnlng and coaching provided to ensure our first aiders are supported and their skills are kept up
to date. .

Hanson UK is committed to being a fair, inclusive, and respectful business, whilst raising awareness of key
challenges both internally and. across the industry. To implement this commitment, we have a Fairness,
Awareness, Inclusion and Respect (FAIR) committee. Led by a member of the Hanson UK executive team and
made up from a range of diverse backgrounds the committee shape our strategy and promote the business as a
place where anyone, regardless. of gender, background age, ethnlcny dlsablllty or sexual orlentatlon feels
welcome and able to have a successful career.

"In addition to the FAIR committee, there are now two employee networks: Network of Women (NOW) and the
LGBT+ network. The Network of Women continues to be supported and is growing with fortnightly committee
meetings held to monitor progress. The network host regular ‘lunch and learn’ sesswns which are open to -
anyone in the business. .

Since the launch of the LGBT+ committee in September 2021 the network has grown to include a wider range of
employees. The network provides a community space for LGBT+ people and allies to commumcate and share
thelr expenences and provides peer to peer support for all persons
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) .
. FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 -

Eln’gage'ment with employees (continued) - . ) | ’

To further imbed Inclusion and Diversity 25 Inclusion Champions have'now been trained. The role of the
‘Inclusion Champion is to be avisible point for questions, queries and situations involving diversity and inclusion,
as well as to escalate issues or questions to the FAIR committee.” They are role models for positive inclusion
practice, promoting all aspects of diversity, inclusion and-equality-in the workplace. They also educate and
demonstrate on appropriate constructlvely challenging non-inclusive S|tuat|ons including the use of toolbox talk
sessions. ‘

Employees are provided with ‘an occupational health program that inclodes annual and biennial medicals
depending on job profile. An Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) provides employees with immediate
- access to confidential 24-hour telephone counselling and support. The helpline is available to support all Hanson

UK employees and provides support through work and life issues and problems arising, ranging from legal to

medical, stress and general healith, fitness and wellbeing’ advice. The EAP is completely confidential, with- high . -
level statistical mformatlon relating to usage Ievel belng passed to management for periodic review.

Hanson UK's values: are also underpmned by a broad range of poI|C|es ranging from management
responsibilities and matters of legal compliance, to d|gn|ty at work and ensuring fairness, inclusion and respect in
the workplace at all times. Where employees do not feel able to express concerns within-the structure of

- reporting lines, an online reporting platform.has beén established to provide employees with an opporturiity to
address any compliance related concerns and matters of potential policy transgression, within a safe and
protected process; issues raised are reviewed and mvestlgated with reporting back to the Hanson UK executive
team. .

" The various measures described in this report are reviewed annually 'by the Hanson UK executive team'and the
Company believes that collectlvely they allow for a strong level of communication and engagement with

. employees.

Disabled employees

- The Company gives every ‘consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where .the C
requirements of the job may be adequately fulfilled by a disabled person. : :

Where existing employees - become disabled, it is the Companys policy, wherever practicable, to provide
continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to prowde future tralmng and career
development. : : : :
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT.(CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)
. The SECR disclosure presents our carbon footprint within the United Kingdom across Scope 1, 2 and to some

extent scope 3 emissions, an appropriate intensity metric, the total energy use of electricity, gas and transport
fuel and an energy efﬂcrency actions summary taken during 2022 .

Year to 31 st Dec 2022 Year to 31st Dec 2021

" Energy consumption ‘used to calculate o 329,671,857 358,310,664
emissions (kWh) - ! . : -
Emissions from combustion of gas tCOze.. . : 104 ) 113
(Scope 1) :
Emissions from combustlon of fuel for 10,197 : 10,369
transport purposes tCOze (Scope 1) ) ) t

-Emissions from business travel in rental cars . - 0 ' 0
or employee-owned vehicles where company a

_is responsible for purcnasmg the fuel tCOqe |
(Scope 3) :
Emissions from purchased electncrty tCOze 55,322 . ) " 66,504
(Scope 2, location-based) )
Total gross tCOZ2e based on above (location- 65,623 76,986
based)* . ' .

- Intensity ratio (tCOzefTumover in £000) - . 02459 . ’ . 0.2885
(market—based) . .
Emissions from purchased electricity tCOze - 90 “NIA ’ -
(Scope 2, market-based) . . - '
Total gross tCOze based on above (market— ' 10,391 ] N/A
based) - ' : .
Intensity. ratio (tCOze/Tumover in £000) 0.03894 . N/A
(market-based) L . ]

*The presented emissions in this section differ from the total emissions of the Co>mpany.
Energy Efficiency Action Surrlmary

The Company forms part of the Hanson UK operating division of Heidelberg Materials AG. Heidelberg Materials
AG has committed to decrease its CO2 emissions. The 5 concrete promrses announced at the Capital Markets
Day in May 2022 and the Beyond 2020 strategy hlghhghts sustalnabllrty, in pamcular carbon neutrallty, as one’
core pillar of our business strategy.

: Heidelberg Materials AG's long-term success depends on sustainable business practices as well as trusting -
relations with our neighbours, business partners, and employees. Therefore, the sustainability strategy of
Heidelberg Materials AG is based on three pillars: environmental protection, social responsibility and good
corporate governance (ESG), all contributing to the transformation towards a circular and sustainable building
materials value chain. ’ :
The target is to enhance the value of the Group through sustainable and result-oriented growth. Earning the cost .
of capital and achieving sufficient financial performance are the necessary prerequisites to generate returns for
shareholders and guarantee the Company's permanent entrepreneurial ability to act, allowing it to invest in
innovation and growth as well as in the development of its personnel and the Company

Herdelberg Materials AG has committed to decrease its CO2 emissions. The ambltrous goals are anchored in "
Hanson UK's Beyond 2020 strategy and now also, since May 2022, ‘in the 5 concrete promises that were
presented by the CEO of Heidelberg Materials AG, Dr. von Achten at the Capital Markets Day 2022:.
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CASTLE CEM'ENAT LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (continued)‘

1.'We focus on what we do best: heavy building materrals

2. We commit to generate 50% of our revenue from sustainabie products by 2030. .

3. We commit to reduce CO2 emissions by almost 50% to 400kg CO2/t. CEM by 2030.

4. We will make this transition a successful business case..

5. We drive the change for the benefit of our customers, our shareholders our employees, and the socrety we
live in.

Heidelberg Materials AG's non-financial indicators have been subject to a reasonable assurance process to
'demonstrate both ' commitment and due drllgence in reporting.

At the Company leve! these corporate comml_tments consolidate the approach taken. The Directors are focused
on effective management. of safety, health, environment, quality, energy, carbon, and responsible sourcing.
These areas remain of key importance to the continued and sustainable success of the business

The Company continues to use a systematic and integrated approach to energy ‘and carbon, reductions through ‘
its accredited management systems being certified to both 1ISO 14001 Environmental Management and ISO
50001 Energy Management that covers all operations.

The Company continues to take a holistic approach to net zero, developing strategic ‘carbon roadmaps across’
each product group to meet science-based targets and help fulfll its share of the responslblllty to keep the global
temperature rise below 1.5°C.

The Company strives for |mprovement opportunltres across sites and operatlons ‘and has recently completed a
number of projects. o

The Company has continued to work with the Mineral Products Association, key customers and suppliers

developing new products with lower embodied carbon.. This is part of an ongoing process for the introduction of

lower carbon cement products. These products retain the same strength and.durability as traditional products

whilst using a hrgher proportional of alternative materials. Their introduction to the market needs to be carefully
managed with changes to standards in partnership wrth regulators. -

FoIIowing successful'net zero fuels trials the Company is continuing to.work with the Department for Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) and the Mineral Products Association (MPA) in a newly formed Cement
Decarbonisation Working Group. The group has several technical sections where learnings from across the
industry are progressed in partnership at a senior level with the intention of working with the government to .
create the ideal environment for industrial decarbonisation.

. The Company is a partner in the HyNet North West consortium, the carbon capture and storage (CCS) project,
which will play a critical role in the UK's transition to net zero CO2. The project will reduce annual regional CO2
emissions by up to 10 million tonnes — including 800,000 tonnes from. the Company's Padeswood plant. The
Company has made significant financial investiture keeping the pro;ect live while the government decrdes on the
next stages. .

With increasing volatility in the supply of fuels the Company has further increased its resilience with the capability
to use a wider variety of alternative fuels and to maximise the biomass content of key fuels. :

The Company has continued to see the benefits of revised quarry development plans, working in partnership
.with Heidelberg Materials AG's mobile plant specialist engineers and respected suppliers. Plans to develop
additional hydrogen trials are also developing as is further development of the highly successful side burner
modification projects which have yielded posmve |mprovements

The Company has establrshed a culture of proactive and preventative maintenance using advanced tools such
as vibration analysis and oil sampling. These systems maximise the effectiveness of process equipment through
targeted and effective actions improving resource efficiency from existing assets. In addition to the focus on
digitisation of data through improved metering the Company has improved tooIs for the assessment of carbon
and energy efficiency benefits on all relevant caprtal expendrture
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Streamlined Enérgy and Carbon Reporting (continued)

The Company's primary electricity supply remains the zero carbon “BLUE for business” tariff from EDF, the only
exception being the landlord sites. The Directors continue to support development projects for renewable energy
including solar generation in partnership with suppliers at Company sites and within the wider supply chain. The
Company has committed to decarbonising light company vehicles and has an increasing number of electric cars
-and vans across its fleet. In addition, the installation of charging points across both its sites and employees’
homes has been faculltated with a partnershlp wnth Shell.

The Company continues to be certified to ISO 6001 Responsible Soufcihg of Construction Products and aims to
conserve natural resources using resources appropriately and sustainably and, where possible, by substututlng

- primary resources-with alternatives and recycled matenals

Methodology Notes
‘Reporting Period

January 2022 — December 2022

Boundary (consolidation
approach) .

Operanonal approach

Alignment with financial
reporting -

SECR disclosure has been prepared in line with Castle Cement Limited’s annual
accounts made up to 31st December 2022

Reporting method

GHG Emissions reporting are in line with the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protoco!
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard

Emissions factor source. DEFRA, 2022 for all emissions faclors -
hitps:/Avwwv.gov. uk/govemmentlpubllcatuonslgreenhouse—gas—repomng-convemon-
) factors-2022 -
Conversion factor Gasoline:
source Federal Register EPA; 40 CFR Part 98; e-CFR, June 13, 2017

EPA GHG Emission Factors Hub

Diesel. .
U.Ss. Energy Information Admlmstratlon British Thermat Unit Conversuon factors
2020

LPG:

Climate Leaders Greenhouse Gas inventory Prmocol Core Module Guidance Duecl

" Emissions from Stationary Combustion Sources 2008

Calculation method

Achivily Data x Emission Faclor = GHG emissions {tCO2z¢e}
Activity Data x Conversion Factor = kWh consumption

Other relevant
information on
calculation -

- Where applicable consumption was converted to KkWh using conversion factors inked

above, while.emissions were calculated with the DEFRA emission factors.

The percentage of the Castle Cement Limited employee numbers of the total
employee numbers (22%) is applied to the total transport diesel and petrot amount to
esfimate the company’s usage. Diesel usage by forkliift trucks is not yet lracked
separately. An average 3.95 litre per hour consumption is assumed.

Source: https:/fordiftbriefing.com/save-money/he-foridift- fuelrobbery!

Based on experience an average of 2 hours per run time a day for all working days
in the UK is estimated for 2 machines that work on sites.

- Dual reporting approach

Dual reporting allows us .to compare our purchasing decision (market-based
approach — green electricity) fo the overall GHG- lntensny of the grid (location-based

approach — grid electricity)

Amount of carbon free
electricity (kWh) :
imporied from the grid

" 285,694,545 kWh

_Information on carbon
free electricity

The electricity supplied to Castle Cement Limited by EDF for 01.01.2022 to
31.12.2022 has been generated from 100% carbon free (nuclear) sources, expect for

landlord sites. Using the GHG Protocol Corporate Standards' market-based approach
the above enables us to report “0" emissions under Scope 2.

Reason for the intensity
meéasurement choice

For consistency, due to the cement market data order, turnover has been chosen for
our intensity metric as the company is preciuded by taw from publishing production
data. Turnover reflects business performance and following the recommendatlons of
the SECR reporting guidance on financial metrics.
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED.

| DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (continued)

Excdlusions The Scope 3 transport fuels and the associated emissions were calculated in the first
o : reporting year (2020} and were found to be de minimis. As the information is not
practical to obtain routinely and is immaterial, we have excluded this category from
our annual reporting.
The usage of the truck fleet is non repoﬂabie as the company hires a franchise
_company.
Rounding Due to roundlng there might be a minor difference compared to the actual GHG
. : ) emissions (no more than 1%)

Directors' indemnity

Heidélberg Materials AG has inderﬁnified by means of directors' and officers". liability insurance, one or more
Directors of the Company against liability in respect of proceedings brought by third parties, subject to the
conditions set out in section 234 of the Companies Act. Such qualifying third party indemnity provision was in.
force during the year and is in force as at the date of approving the Dlrectors Report.

The artlcles of association also provide for the Directors to be indemnified by the Company SUbjeCt to the
provisions of the Companies Act.

Disclosure of information to auditors

Each of the persons'who are Directors at the time when this Directors' Report is approved has confirmed that:

. - so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audlt mformatlon of WhICh the Company's auditors are
unaware, and
. the Director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a Director in order to be aware of any

relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information.
I'ndependent auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP having indicated their wiilingness to act will continue in office, as auditors of the
. Company, in accordance with section 487 of the Companies Act 2006. .

" This report was approved by.the board on 26 September 2023 and signed on its behalf.
oty F g

W F Rogers
. Secretary
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBIL_ITIES STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR EN_DED.31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report the Directors' Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprlsmg FRS- 101 “Reduced Disclosure
Framework” and appllcable law).

Under company law, Dlrectors must not 'approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that perlod
In preparmg the financial statements, the Directors are requnred to: ‘

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consrstently,
. state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
. make j‘udgements and accounting estimates that are’ reasonable and prudent; and
) prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the

Company will contlnue in business.

The Dlrectors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. - .

The Directors are also responsible for keeping adequate‘ accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company'’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financia! position of
the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

The Responsibilities Statement was approved by the board on 26 Septembeér 2023 and signed on its behalf.

e ,;é, Fllys

W F Rogers -
Company Secretary’
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| Ind_ependent auditors’ report to the
members,'of Castle Cement Limited

‘Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, Castle Cement Limited’s financial statements:

e give atrue and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of its profit for the year then ended;

o have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 20086.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Rep'org and Financial Statements (the “Annual Report”), which
comprise: Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2022; the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the signiﬁpant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

~We' conducted "our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of
our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC'’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our-other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. ' :

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months -
from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

fn auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accdunting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

"However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's ability to
continue as a going concern. .

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this

report. ’ ' :
. ‘ | \

Reporting on other information . _

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report

thereon. The directors are responsible for the other informiation. OQur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
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information and, accordingly, we do not express an audlt opinion or, except to the extent othenmse explucntly stated in this report any
form of assurance thereon. '

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform
procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. o

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report, we ‘also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies
Act 2006 have been included. : -

Based on our- work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters
as described below.

Strategic report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audlt the information given in the Strategic report and Directors’
.Report for the year ended 31 December 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable Iegal requrrements :

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in thé course of the audit, we did not identify
any materiat misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit -

Respon5|blllt|es of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the fnancral
statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also -
responsuble for such internal control as they determine is hecessary to enable the preparation of fi nancial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern,
dlsc|osung, as applicable, matters related to going. concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to Ilqurdate the company or to cease operatlons or have no realistic alternative but to do.so.

Auditors’ responsnbllltles for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material .
misstatement when it exists.- Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,

- they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations.. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of |rregular|t|es ‘including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, |nc|ud|ng fraud, is detailed below

. Based on our understanding of the company and indu'stry; we identified. that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and
regulations related to Health and Safety and environmental legisiation, and we considered the extent to whioh non-compliance might
have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the
ﬁnanoial statements such as UK tax legislation and the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives'and opportunities
for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks
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were related to posting inapbropriate journal entries; omitting, .advancing or delayi‘n'g recognition of events and transactions that have
occured during the reporting period,- and management bias in accounting estimates or judgements to manipulate results. Audit
procedures performed by the engagement team included: .

» Reviewing meeting minutes of the board for evidence of breaches of regulations and further reviewing any relevant correspondence;

» Identifying and testing journal entries based on our risk assessment and evaluating whether there was evidence of management
bias that represents a risk of material misstatement due to fraud;

» Inquiries of-management in respect of any known or suspected instances of non compliance with laws and regulatlons and fraud; .

¢ Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates and obtained corroboratlve
evidence to support their reasonableness; '

« Incorporating an element of unpredictability into the audlt procedures performed.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures déscribed above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also,
the risk of not detectlng a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepreésentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our reéponsibilities for the audit of the financial statements. is Iocated on the FRC's websité at:
www _frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' report.

Use of this report ' .

‘This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a bddy in accordance with Chapter.
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accépt or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in wrmng
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Other required repOrtihg

‘Companies Act 2006 exception reporting -

Under the Combanies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

e we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our.audit; or

e adequate accountmg records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or .

« - the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this,responsibility.'

Jak Coly
Stuart Couch (Senior Statutory Auditor) S
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Bristol
27 September 2023
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Turnover :

: Change |n stocks of finished goods and work in progress
Other operatlng mcome
Raw materials and consumables :

 Other operating expenses :
Exceptional |tems - |mpa|rment of tanglble fixed assets -

Staff costs

'Depreciation and amortisation
'Operating' profit

" Interest receivable and similar income

Interest payable and simitar expenses
Other finance income

", Profit before tax

Tax on profit

Profit/(loss) for the ﬁnancia! year'

" Other comprehenswe (expense)/mcome '
Items that will not be reclassified to proflt or Ioss

Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined benefit schemes
" Movements of deferred tax relating'tb pension surplus

,' Total comprehensive (expense)lincome for the year. -

All amounts relate to continuing operations.

" The notes on pages 24 to 52 form part ef‘fhese financial statements. -

Note

13

14
10

11

12

25

21

2022 2021

£000 £000 -
324,999 266,828
14,014 2,004
3,458 16,176
(171,627) . (134,492)
(91,621) (79,194)
(3,958) (10,116)

1 (46,917)  (43,631) -
(12,857) (13,743)
15,491 13,832
1,808 135
(764) (587)
1,622 771
18,157 4,151

' (4,500) (7.174)
13,657 (3.023)
(28,564) 21415

7,141 (1,671) -
(21,423) 19,744
(7,766) 16,721
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED .
REGISTERED NUMBER: 021 82762

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note

Fixed assets -

Tangible assets T ‘ 14
Investments o . 15
Defined benefit pension scheme asset . 25
Current assets. . '
Stocks . : L o 16

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 17

- Cash at bank and in hand

Credltors amounts falhng due wuthln one
year : : 18

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Credltors amounts falling due after more
. than one year 19

Provisioris for liabilities

Deferred taxation - 21
Other provisions. . 22
Net assets

2022

£000
112,894
63,908
53,984
230,786
73,692
141,795
" 239
215,726
(153,064)
62,662
293,448
(8,697)
284,751
(13,107)
(29,712)
(42,819)
241,932

51,263

152,378

-3

203,644

L (153,963)

(15,794)

(34,702) .

2021
£000

113,994
163,908
81,310

259,212

" 49,681
308,893

(8,699) -

300,194

(50,496)

249,698
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 02182762

BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

2022 ' 2021

Note ~ £000 ' £000
Capital and reserves . |
Called up share capital- ' ) 23 70,000 70,000
Profit and loss account 171,932 179,698
Total equity - 241932 249698

- The financial statements were approVed and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on
26 September 2023. : '

A Quilez Somolinos
Director

The notes on 4pages 24 to 52 form part of these financial statements.
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CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

';’f | o o A T Calledup  Profit and ,
: "~ 'share capital loss account '~ Total equity .

. _ £000 ~ £000 £000

At 1 January 2021 ’ a : ' o 70,000 - 162,977 232,977

- Comprehensive ihcome for the year o : , ,
Loss for'the year ' ) . . _ ' - - (3,023) . " (3,023)
Actuarial gain on pension scheme, net of deferred tax : : ' - 19,744 19,744

" Total comprehensive income for the year B - " 16,721 . 16,721

" At1January 2022 - - 70,000 179698 . 249,698
Coinp'rehensive.expense for the year . . ) | ‘ '
Profit for the year : ' . - 13657 - 13,657
Actuarial loss on pension scheme, net of deferred tax ) o : - (21,423) (21,423)
Total comprehensive expense for the year '_‘ . - : (7,766) : (7,766)
At 31 December 2022 ' L 70,000 - . 171,932 241,932 -
The notes on pages 24 to 52 form part.of these financ;ial st.atem‘ents.

\
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* CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANéIAL'STATEMENTS

1.

1.1

1.2

13

'FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

.Accounting policies

‘General information

Castle Cement Limited (‘the Company”) is a limited company incorporated and domiciled in the
United Kingdom. The address of its reglstered office and principal place of business is dlsclosed in
the Company Informatlon :

Basis of preparation of financ'ial state‘ments

The financial statements have been prepared under the hlstorlcal cost convention and in accordance
with Financial Reporting Standard 101"'Reduced Disclosure Framework‘ and the Companles Act
2006.

The Company’s financial statements are presented in Sterling, WhICh is also the Companys' .
functlonal currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds £ OOO) )

The principal accountlng poI|C|es applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have, unless otherwuse stated been consistently apphed to aII periods,
presented.

The Company is itself a subs'idiary company-and is exempt from the requtrement to prepare group
financial statements by virtue of section 401 of the Companies Act 2006. These financial statements
therefore present information about the Company as.an |nd|V|duaI .undertaking and not about its

group.

 Financial Reporting Standard 101 - reduced disclosure exemptions~

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:
. the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Dlsclosures '

"e - the requirement in- paragraph 38 of IAS 1 ’Presentatlon of Financial Statements' to present

comparative information in respect of:
- paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1,A
- paragraph 73(e) of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment;

. "the requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 38D, 40A, 4OB 4OC 4OD
" 111 and 134-136 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

B ~ the requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

o the requirements of paragraphs 30 ‘and 31 of IAS 8 Accountlng PoI|C|es Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors

e the requ1rements of paragraph 17 and 18A of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

.. the requlrements in 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions
entered into between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsudrary which is a
party to the transaction is wholly owned by such a member .

e the reqmrements of paragraphs 130(f)(ii), 130(f)(iii), 134(d) 134(f) and 135( )- 135(e).of IAS 36-
" - Impairment of Assets. : ‘

This information is included in the consolidated financial statements of Heidelberg Materials AG as at ' '

31 December 2022 and these financial statements may be obtained from Berliner Strasse 6, D 69120
Heidelberg, Germany
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14

1.5

1.6

Accounting policies (continued)

Going concern

On the basis of their assesément of the Cofhpany’s financial position, Hanson UK's divisional cash
flow forecasts up to December 2024 and relevant enquiries, the Directors believe that although there

'is still a lot of uncertainty concerning energy, raw material availability and costs as a result of the

impact of the Ukraine crisis, the Company continues to see demand for its products and growth in its
revenue. Therefore no material- uncertainty exists that may cast sngmflcant doubt on the ability of the
Company to continue as a going concern. ’ :

The Directors have noted that the ultimate parent undertaking, Heidelberg Materials AG, has made
an assessment of identifiable risks on their global business activities, including the on-going impact of
the Ukraine crisis, the volatility in energy and raw materials ‘markets, inflationary pressures, rising
interest rates and the overarching impact these factors have on constructlon and consumer markets,

and continues to operate on a gomg concern-basis. :

Thus the Directors have a reasonable expectatlon that the Company will be able to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future and they continue to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting in preparing the financial statements. -

Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured as the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, value added tax and other sales
taxes. The following criteria must also be met before revenue is recognlsed

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised on the satisféction of'performance obligations, such as
the transfer of a promised good, identified in the contract bétween the Company and the customer.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is uncondmonal because only the passage of time is requn'ed before the payment'is
due.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets under the-cost model, other than investment properties, are stated at historical

_cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes

expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condmon necessary

for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

At each reporting date the Company assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined which is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. An impairment loss |s recognised where the carrying
amount exceeds the recoverable amount. . :

The Company adds to the carrying amount of an item of fixed assets the cost of replacing part of
such an item when that cost is incurred, if the replacement part is expected to provide incremental
future benefits to the Company. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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1. . Accounting p‘olicies (continued)

1.6

1.7

1.8

- 1.9.

Tanglble flxed assets (continued) '

Land is not depremated Depreciation on other assets is charged so as to aIIocate the cost of assets
less their re5|dual value over their estumated useful lives, using the straight-line method.

' The estlmated usefuI lives range as foIIows:

Freehold property .- Up to 50 years

S/Term Leasehold Property = - Over the lease term

Piant and machinery - - 5-20years

nght of-use leased assets - Stralght line over lease term

The assets residual. values useful lives and depreciation methods are rewewed and adjusted
prospectively if appropnate or if there is an indication of a S|gn|f|cant change since the last reporting
date. . .

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount'
and are recogmsed in profit or loss.

Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are held at historical cost less provision for impairment.

Stocks and work in progress

Stocks and work in .progress'are valued atthe lower df cost and net realisable value after making due
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving stocks. Cost includes all direct costs and an appropriate
proportion of fixed and variable. overheads

Financial Instruments

Financial Assets

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a flnanC|aI asset not

subsequently measured at fair value through profit or Ioss transactton costs.

All recognised financial assets are subsequentty measured in their entirety at either fair value or
amortised cost, dependlng on the clas3|f|cat|on of the financial assets.

The Company’s flnanC|aI assets comprlse cash trade and other receivables.
Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value where they are financial assets held within
a business model whose objective is to sell the financial asset, and the contractual terms of the
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding. Any fair value gains or losses at each reporting period is
recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The
net gain or Ioss recognised in proflt or loss mcludes any dividend or mterest earned on the financial
asset.

In addttlon financial assets where the contractual terms of the financial asset do not give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the pnnC|paI
amount outstandlng are also subsequently measured at fair value.
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1 - ~Accounting policies (continued) -
1.9 Financial instruments (continued)

Debt instruments. at amortised cost

Debt instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost where they are financial assets held
within a business mode! whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows, and the contractuatl terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Amortised cost is
calculated using the effective interest method and represents the amount measured at initial
- recognition less repayments of principal plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between the .initial amount and the maturlty amount, adjusted for any loss
.- allowance. .

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses. ("ECL") on investments in debt
instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respecttve fmanmal
instrument. :

The Company always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and amounts due on contracts -
‘with customers. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated based on the
Company's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. Lifetime ECL
- represents the expected credit losses. that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. : '

The ECL required for other debt mstruments is determmed using a three stage model.

« At the initial recognition of the financial asset an expected credit loss provnsmn is recorded for the
twelve month period following the reporting date. Any interest revenue is calculated on the gross.
carrying amount of the financial asset.

« If the credit risk of that financial instrumeént has-increased significantly since initial recognition, a -
loss allowance for full lifetime expected credit losses is recorded. Any interest revenue is calculated
on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. Should the significant increase in credit: risk --
reverse within subsequent reporting periods then the expected credit losses on the financial
instrument revert to being measured based on-an amount equal to the twelve month expected credit
losses: .

. If objective evidence of impairment exists, a loss allowance for full lifetime expected-credit losses is
recognised. Any interest revenue is calcutated on the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Financial |'iabitities

‘Financial Ilabllmes are initially measured at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowmg and
payables net of directly attributable transactions costs

The subsequent measurement of fnanmal |Iabl|ltIeS depends on their classification, as descrlbed
below
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1. Accountmg polrcres (contmued)

1.9 Fmanmal mstruments (contlnued) A
. Fa|r value through proflt or Ioss

Financial |IabI|ltIes are classified as at fair value through profit or loss, when the financial liability is
held for trading, or is designated as at fair value through profit or loss. This designation may be made
if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise, or the financial liability forms part of a group of financial instruments which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, or the financial liability forms part
of ‘a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire combined
contract to be designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Any gains or losses arising on
changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a
designated hedging relationship. .

At amortised cost

Financial liabilities which - are neither contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business

" combination, held for trading, nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the
expected life of the financial I|ab|I|ty or where approprlate a shorter period, to the amortlsed cost- of a.
financial liability. .

Offsetting of financial instruments
" Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities srmultaneously :

110, Foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denommated in forergn currenmes are translated into Sterllng at rates
of. exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.

Transactions in forelgn currencres are translated into Sterling at the rate rulmg on the date of the
- ‘transaction.

Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Cemprehensive Income.
1.11.Pensions

The Company has operated one defined benefits pension scheme and the pension charge is based
on their full actuarial valuation dated 31 December 2021 for the Castle Pension Scheme.
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1.

Accounting policies (continued)

1.11 Pensions (continued) B . ., ' -

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit
method, which attributes entitlement to benefits to the current period (to determine current service
cost) and to the current and prior periods (to determine the present value of defined benefit
obligations) and is based on actuarial advice. Past service costs are recognised immediately in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income. When a settlement or a curtailment occurs the change iin the -
present value of the scheme liabilities and the fair value of the scheme assets reflects the gain or

. loss whlch is recognised in the income statement

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the ‘discount rate to the net balance of the defined
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. The difference between the expected return-on
scheme assets and the interest cost is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as-
other fmance income or expenses.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognlsed in futl in other comprehensive income in the period in
which they occur.

The det” ned’ beneflt pension_ asset or liability in the Balance Sheet comprises the total for each
scheme of the. present value of the defined benefit obligation (using a discount rate based on high -
quality corporate bonds that have been rated at AA or equivalent status), less the fair value of
scheme assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly. Fair.value is based on market
price mformatlon and in the case of quoted securities is the publlshed bid price.

The . Company also parhcupates in the Hanson Industrlal PenS|on Scheme (Defined Contrlbutlon'
Section). Company contnbutlons -are’ expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as
incurred. : .

1.12 Emission Allcwances

The: Company as a manufacturer of cement, is involved in the United Kingdom Emlssmn Tradlng

. Scheme (' UK ETS), whlch aims to reduce greenhouse gas emussnons

Emission rights are “shown as inventories. Emission rights ,granted free of charge are initially
measured at a nominal value of zero. Emission rights acquired for consideration are accounted for at
cost using the moving average method and are subject to write-down in the event of impairment.

*Provisions for the obligation to return emission rights -are recognised if the actual C02 emissions up

to reporting date are not covered by emission rights granted free of charge.

The amount of provision for emission rlghts already acqmred for consideration is measured at the
carrying amount and, for emission rights yet to be acquwed in order to fulfll the obligation, at the
market value as at the reporting date. .

- 1.13 Interest income

Interest income is recognlsed in the Statement of Comprehenswe income using the effective interest
rate method.
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1. -

Accounting policies (continued)

1. 14 Prowsmns

" Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Company a Iegal or constructive °

obligation that probably requirés settlement by a transfer of economic benefit, and a reliable estimate

*. can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions_ are cha'rged as an expense to the Statement. of Comprehensive Income in the year that
the Company becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the
Balance Sheet date of the expenditure requured fo settle the obllgatlon taklng into account relevant

- risks and uncertainties.
" When payments are- eventually made they are charged to the prowsron carried in the Balance Sheet :

. Provisions for the expected costs of rectification, kiln repairs and ratronallsatron are charged against
.profits when required. The effect of the time value of money is not matenal and therefore the

provrsrons are not dlscounted

1.15 Restoratlon

The Company aims to reinstate land following mineral extraction or industrial occupation to a

" beneficial use as soon as is reasonably practrc'able This is done by consulting with interested parties
. to ensure that the after use is appropriate to both. the needs of local people and the natural

enwronment

The Company'make’s a provision on a discounted basis to return a quarry site to a decontaminated, A

-cleared and' improved site and to make provision to restore the present extracted areas to currently

anticipated after use. The unwmdlng of discounts relating to restoration are expensed to the
Statement of Comprehensrve Income and mcluded in mterest payable.

1A.16 Current and deferred taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by
the Balance Sheet date.

Deferred income tax is ‘recognised on all temporary dlfferences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and thelr carrying amounts in the financial statements, with the following
exceptron

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwili or an asset or liability-in

a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transactaon affects nelther the
accounting proflt nor taxable profit or loss.

However, for taxable temporary dnfferences associated with |nvestment in subsidiaries; branches and
associates, and interests in joint ventures a deferred tax liability shall be recognised in accordance
with IAS 12 39. :
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1.

* Accounting policies (continued)

'1.16 Current and deferred taxation {continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax
losses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undisc'ounted basis at the' tax rates
that are expected to apply when the related asset is realised or liability is settled, based on tax rates
and laws enacted or substantlvely enacted at the Balance Sheet date

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset, only if a legally enforcement right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities, the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation
authority and that authority permits the company to make a single net payment. .

Income tax is chafged or credited to other comprehensive income if it relates to items that are

. charged or credited to other comprehensive income. Similarly, income tax is charged or credited .

directly to equity if it relates to'items that are credited or charged directly to equity. Otherwise income
tax is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

1.17 Exceptional items.

The Company presents as exceptional items those material items‘of income and expense which
because .of the nature and expected infrequency of the events giving rise to them, merit separate
presentation to allow shareholders to understand better the elements of financial performance in the

" year, .s0 as to facilitate comparison with prior periods and to assess better trends in financial
- performance.

1‘.18 Research and development

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure on an individual project is
recognised as an intangible asset when the Company can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability.

"of resources to complete the asset and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during

development. Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the cost

model is applied requiring the asset to_be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
"accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the assets begins when development is completed

and the asset is available for use. It is amortised evenly over the period of expected future benefit.
During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annuaIIy

1.19 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources

All costs associated with exploration and evaluation of mineral resources as well as the research
phase, are expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred.. Property, plant and
equipment that is acquired in the exploration, "evaluation or development phase which can then be
further utilised within the business irrespective of the outcome of the exploration, evaluation or
development phase is capltahsed and depreciated over its useful economic life.

Page 31



CASTLE CEMENT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

' FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
Accou.nting bolicies (continued)

1.20 Borrowinglcosts

Borrowing costs directly .attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of -an asset that

_ necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised
as part of the-cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they

occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the

' borrowmg of funds.

1 .21 Leases

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract. The
Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease

. agreements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease

term -of 12 months .or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases the Company
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Leases' for quarries do not fall within the scope of

IFRS 16. These leases are considered pending transactions and the expenses are recogmsed in the
* material costs in the period in WhICh they arise.

The Iease liability is initially measured .at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at’
the commencement ‘date; discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowmg rate. The mterest rates were
calculated on the basis of the remaining term of the leases.

Lease payments included i in the measurement of the. lease liability. comprise:
- fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate

_at the commencement date; ,
"« the amount expected to be payable by the Iessee under residual value guarantees;

« the exercrse price of purchase optlons if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
and

* payments of penalties for terminating the lease, |f the Iease term reflects the exercise of an option
to terminate the lease.

The Iease liability is included in 'Creditors' on the Balance Sheet. The lease: |Iabl|lty is subsequently

measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the

: effectiv'e interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a correspondlng adjustment to the related
right-of-use asset) whenever :

« the ‘lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised discount rate.
- the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment -
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the-
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a
change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

. +» a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate Iease in

which case the lease liability is. remeasured by dlscountlng the rewsed lease payments usmg a
revised discount rate. :

" The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding: lease liability, lease

payments made at or béfore the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are -
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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1.

Accounting policiee (continued)

121 Leases (continued)

Whenever the Company incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, .
-restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured.under IAS 37. The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are’incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets -are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use
-asset reflects that the Company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease. The rlght -of-use assets are included in the Tangible Fixed Assets
|n the Balance Sheet.

The Company applies IAS 36 to determine whether a rlght-of-use asset is |mpa|red and accounts for
any ldentlfled lmpalrment loss in Exceptional ltems. .

~ Variable rents that do not depend on an mdex or rate are not included in the measurement of the

- . lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the

- period in which the event or condition that trlggers those payments occurs and are included in profit
or loss: ,

‘As a practical expedient, IFRS- 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and
instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement The
Company has not used this practical expedlent :

" Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment of investments

The Company reviews investmente in subsidiaries and other investments for impairment if there are any

indications that the carrying values may not be recoverable. The carrying value of the investment is

* compared to the recoverable amount and where a deficiency exists, an impairment charge is considered

by management.

The recoverable amount represents the net assets of the investment at the time of the review or where
applicable is represented by an estimate of future cash flows expected to arise from the investment. A
suitable discount rate is applied to the future cash flows in order to calculate the present value.

- Reversals of impairments are recogmsed where. there is a favourable change in the economic

assumptlons in the perlod since the prowsron was made.
Recoverabmty of amounts owed by group undertakings

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") on mvestments in debt

.. instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
_ each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognmon of the respective financial
_instrument. .
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2.

‘ Judgements in applylng accountmg pollmes and key sources of estimation uncertalnty
" (continued) :

Impalrment of tanglble fixed assets

A cash flow-based method in accordance with IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets) is used to determine the
recoverable amount of cash:generating units as part of the impairment test for tangible fixed assets. In
particular, estimates are required in relation to future cash flows of the groups of cash-generating units as
well as to the discount rates used (discounted cash flow method). A change in the influencing factors may
have a significant impact on the existence or amount of impairment Iosses

Estimating the deflned beneflts pension scheme obllgatrons

. Measurement of defined ‘ben‘,efit pension obligations requires est‘imatio‘n of future changes in iv’nflation and
mprtality rates, and the selection of a suitable discount rate. See note 25 for further details..

Restoration and environmental provisions

Provisions for restoration and environmental obligations are measured on the basis of an extrapolation of
the claims and estimates of the development of costs. A change in the influencing parameters may have
an impact on the Statement of Comprehensive Income as well as the amounts. recognlsed in the Balance
Sheet. The recognition and measurement of the other provisions are based on estimates of the
probabilities of future outflow of resources and on the basis- of empirical values and the circumstances
known at the reporting date. The actual outflow of resources may differ from the outflow of resources

expected at the reporting date -and may have an impact on the recognition and measurement Further ,

explanatlons on provisions can be found in note 22

- Turnover

Turnover, pre-tax profit and net assets are attributable to the Combanys pnncrpal activity, the
manufacture and sale of cement pnmanly for use in the ready m|xed concrete and manufactured concrete.

- products industries.

All turnover arose within the United Kingdom.

Auditors' remuneration

Fees for audit services provided to the Company ‘have been borne bybother group undertakings. It is not
practicable to ascertain what proportion of such fees relates to the Company.

Other operating income - -

2022 2021 .

£000 £000
Profits from sale of emissi:onsrights ' S S 175 . 13,699
Profit on disposal of tangible assets . : : ' 569 864 -
‘Net ‘rents 'reqei\)able ' . 304 - 416
Foreign exchange gains . o T - ‘ " 166 C117 -

Other operating income S C . 2,244 11,080

3,458 16,176
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6. °  Other operating expenses

- 2022 2021

" £000 . £000

_ Selling and administratjve expenses - ‘ ' . 6,883 5,239

Distribution expenses - ‘ TN 42595 - 41583
Expenses for third party repairs and services . . _ 14172 10,938 -

Fixed production expenses o - 8,273 7,608

Rental and leasing expenses K B S 3,814 2,971

Other taxes - ' o ‘ : 90 * 102
Foreign exchange losses 144 - 114

Loss on disposal ‘ : - ‘ 4 52

Other expenses A ' " 15,646 10,587

| | | © 91621, 79194

. 7 Staff cdsts_

2022 2021

| £000 £000

‘Wages and salaries o 39,511 37,010

- Social security costs y ' S 4456 - 3,803

Other pension costs, ' . ‘ ©2950. - 2818

46,917 . 43,631

The average monthly number of employees, including the Directofs, during the year was.as follows:

: Restated

2022 - 2021

. No. ' No.

Production and distribution o : 11 - 610

' Management, selling and administration . : . 199 181
810 791

The prior year figure for the average monthly number of management, seI'Iing and adhwiniétration
employees has been amended due to 26 employees being omitted in error. : .
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8.

10.

1.

- FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Directors' Remuneration

. The h|ghest pand Director recelved remuneratlon of £n|I (2021 £nil) from the Company

The value of the Companys contnbutlons paid to a defined contrlbutlon penS|on scheme in respect of the
h:ghest paid Dwector amounted to £nil (2021 - £nil). :

The Directors of the.Company are also directors of a number of the group's fellow subsidiaries. The

_ Directors received total remuneration of £1,684,000 (2021 - £1,780,000), which was paid by various fellow

subsidiaries. The Directors do not believe that:it is practicable to apportion. this amount between their
services as Directors of the Company and their services as directors of fellow subsidiary.companies. .

;

_ Interest receivable and similar income

2022 2021
£000 £000
Interest receivable from group companies’ ~ ~ © : 1,808 135
Interest payable and similar expenses
2022 - 2021
£000 ~ £000
Discount adjustments on provisions L e o | . 59 37
Interest on lease liabilities - B ' . 254 392
Other interest payable - S ' ‘ 451 ©158
: 764 587
Other finance income _
. , 4 . 2022 2021
- b , ‘ <~ £000 £000
Net interest income on defined benefit asset o ‘ .. 1,622 771
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12. Tax '
2022 © 2021
A £000 £000
Corporation tax ' ' '
Current UK Corporation tax on results for the year . 46 41
~Total current income tax ' ' - N - o 46 41
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences _ : ' 4,182 1,688
Changes to tax rates - . - ', - 5,890
Adjustments in respect of previous periods , ) ' 272 (445).
Total deferred tax : - o ’ 4,454 7133
Taxation on profit - - A B 4,500 7174

- 'Reconciliation of the tax charge for the yvear

The tax assessed for the year is higher than (2021 - higher than) the standard rate of corporatlon tax in

the UK of 19% (2021 - 19%). The dlfferences are explamed beIow

J 2022

2021 .

£000 £000
Profit before tax _‘ - 1887 4,151
Proflt multiplied by standard rate of corporatlon tax in the UK of 19% (2021 - o

“19%) S 3,450 789

Effects of: ' ' : '
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes ' ' - _ (415) : '(41')
Changes to tax rates - S - o - 1,004 6,296
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods | . - 272 (445)

. Book profit on chargeable assets ' ' (100) (158)
Group relief . A ' B Co 258 730
Transfer pricing adjustments _ ' ' . C 31 3

7,174

Total tax charge for the year - - 4500

Change in corporation tax rate

The main rate of corporation tax increased from 19% to 25% on 1.April 2023.
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13.  Exceptional items '

2022 - 2021

| £000  £000
Impairment of tangible fixed assets ) e » . 3958 . 10,116

An: |mpa|rment assessment undertaken during the year resulted in charges of £3,958,000 (2021 - ‘.
" £10,116,000) against tangible fixed assets, as management identified a site which has been impacted by
the local market conditions. .
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14. Tangibie fixed assets

~ S/Term Right of use ’ o B

Freehold - Leasehold Plant and property. Right of use

. property Property = machinery assets other assets Total
£000 £000 . ~ £000 £000 - £000 £000

Cost or valuation o . . : o i
At 1 January 2022 . ) 55,248 37 439,009 8,980 17,917 521,191
Additions . ) - - © 13,470 . 768 . 1724 15,962
Disposals o ) - (33) . - (1,735) (2 - (1,845)
Transfer to provisions : ) - .- (137) - - (137)
At 31 December 2022 ) 55,215 Y 450,607 9,671 19,641 535,171

" Depreciation . . o

At 1 January 2022 ; . 39,707 37 353,808 1,667 11,978 - 407,197
Charge for the'year on owned assets - ' . 602 - 8,654 - - } 9,156
Charge for the year on right-of-use assets S v - . - . - 614 3,087 3,701
Disposals . . . : : C - -7 (1,735) - - (1,735)
Impairment charge ' 37 - 3921 - - © 3,958
At31 December 2022 - : . 40346 - . 37. 364,548 2281 15085 422,277

_Net book value ) .
At 31 December 2022 . : ' 14,869, - 86,059 7,390 - 4576 112,894
~-At 31 December 2021 2 S 15,541 - 85,201 7,313 5,939 © 113,994
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14.  Tangible fixed assets (continued)

Included in freehold property is freehold land at a cost of £11, 969 000 (2021 -£11, 972 000)

Plant and machinery includes £12, 126 000. (2021 - £13, 177 000) in respect of assets in the course of

constructlon

The net book value of owned and Ieased assets included as "Tanglble fixed assets in the_BaIance Sheet

is as follows:

‘ Tartgible fixed assets owned
Right-of-use tangible fixed assets

' Inform_atibh about right-.of-use assets is summarised,below: .

" Net book value

Property _
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

- Depreciation charge for the year ended

" Propety
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

2022

2021
£000 . £000
100,928 . 100,742
11,966 13,252
112,894 113994
2022 . 2021
£000 ~ £000
7,390 7,313
4317~ 15499
259 440
11,966 13,252
- 2022 . 2021
£000 ~£000
614 437
2,841 3,970

246 239
3,701

"4,646
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15. Fixed asset investments

Investments

in
. subsidiary
companies
£000
Cost .
At1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 . . _ : : . 64,622
Impairment _ » )
© At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 ’ ‘ 714
Net book valne ‘
At 31 December 2022 : T : _ A 63,908
At31December2021 - : U : o 63,908

There was ho |mpa|rment during the year as net assets exceed or equal the carrylng value Net assets
have been used as an approxrmatlon of the falr value less costs of dlsposal

Direct subsidiary undertakings -

-The investments in which the Company directly held any class of share capital are as follows:

: Country of Class of S .
Name : : incorporation shares - Holding Principal activity
Castle Building Products Limited = England and Wales Ordinary . 100% Dormant -
Castle Cement (Ketton)-Limited = England and Wales Ordinary : 100% Investment holding
e ‘ ) company -
" Castle Cement (Ribblesdale) " England and Wales Ordinary 100% Investment holding
-~ Limited .- , o , .company
_ , o Deferred - 100% . i
Castle Lime Limited . "England and Wales Ordinary 100% Dormant
Mantle & Llay Limited England and Wales Ordinary : 100% Dormant
. Minster Quarries Limited England and Wales Ordinary - 100% Investment holding
: _ : : - o company .
Scancem Energy and Recovery England and Wales Ordinary 100% Investment holding
Limited : : o B ' _ company
Tunnel Cement Limited - England and Wales Ordinary 100% Investment holding
o : ' : i ' company

. The Company also held a 100% capital interest in Castle Pension Scherne Trustees Limited and CSPS _
~ Trustees Limited, two companies which are limited by guarantee without share capital. These companies
are also incorporated in England and Wales. .
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18,

16.

Fixed asset investments (continued)

‘ Indlrect subsndlary undertaklngs

, Country of
Name ’ incorporation
Castle Cement (Chatburn) : England and Wales
-Limited o .
. Castle Cement (Clyde) Limited . England and Wales
" Castle' Cement (Padeswood) - England and Wales
Limited '

Castle Cement (Pltstone) Limited England and Wales

Chemical Manufacture and . England and Wales -

Refining Limited

Ketton Cement Lilmited England and Wales

Scancem Recovery Limited - England and Wales
Solrec Limited . - - Engla‘lndv and Wales
Thistleton Quarries Limited ~~ England and Wales

Class, of
shares
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary - .

Ordinary -

A Ordinary

B Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

-Ordinary

Holdlng
100%

100%

100% .

100%
100%

100%
100%
- 100%

100% .

100%
- 100%

The mvestments in which the Company mdnrectly held any ( class of share capital are as follows:

Principal activity
‘Group finance company

Group finance company
Group flnance company.

Group finance company .
Group finance company

Dormant

Investment holding
.company

Group finance company

Dormant

The registered office of the investments incorporated in England and Wales as at 31 December 2022 was
Hanson House, 14 Castle Hill, Maidentiead, SL6 4JJ. After the year end, the registered office of these
investments-was changed to Second Floor; Arena Court, Crown Lane, Maidenhead, Berkshire, SL6 8QZ.

Stocks

Raw materials and consumables

Work in progress .

. Finished goods and gbods for resale

matenal

2022 - 2021
£000 £000
44031 . 35,340
21,245 " 11,802
8416 4121 .

73692 51263

" The dlfference between purchase price or productlon cost of stocks and thelr repIacement cost |s not
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17. Debtors

" Due within one year

Trade debtors _
Amounts owed by group undertakings
" Prepayments and accrued income

2022 2021
£000 £000
29185 = 26,727
112103 125559
507 92
141795 152,378

_Included within amounts owed by grotp ’un'dert.a‘klngs is an amount of £97,388,000 (2021 £1 10A 361,000)
which is unsecured, repayable on demand . and accrues interest at overnight SONIA (Sterling Overnight
Index Average) (2021. - overnight LIBOR (London Interbank Offer Rate)). GBP LIBOR was replaced by

SONIA on 1 January 2022.

18. Creditors: Ahounts falling due within oné year

Bank overdrafts

Trade creditors -

Amounts owed to group undertakings
Other taxation and social secunty
Lease liabilities

Other creditors -

Accruals and deferred income

2021

2022
£000 £000
- 2,775
53,492 52,131
-73923 74,062
' 8 5
2,240 3,520
5,169 5,551
18232 . 15919
153,064 . 153,963

Amounts owed to group undertaklngs are unsecured mterest free, have no fixed date of repayment and

~are repayable on demand.

19. - Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

Lease liabilities

2022
£000

8697

2021
£000

8,699
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20.

Leases

Company as a lessee

- The Company |eases<proper‘ty,.p|ant and maéhinery as well as 'motor vehicles.

Lease liabilities are due as follows:

2022 2024

‘ ~'£000 £000

Not later than one year 3 ‘ : : oo 2,240 - 3,520

Between one year and fiveyears . - . ' S 5,133 5,250

Later than five years- A ' ‘ . 3564 - 3,449
| | ‘ o - 10,037 12,219 .

The following amounts in respect of leases, where the Company is a lessee, have ‘been recognised in

profit or loss:

&

2022

_ . ‘ £000
Interest expense on lease liabilities L o . A : 254
Expenses relating to short-term leases o ’ . .. 3,814

2021 .
-£000

392

T 2,971
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21. Deferred taxation

" At 1 January

Credited/(éharged) to the Statement of Comprehensive Income
Credited/(charged) to cher comprehensive income

At 31 December

" The provision for deferred taxation is made up as follows:

Accelerated capital allowances _
. Other temporary differences
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension

22. - Provisions:

At 1 January 2022
Charged to profit or loss
Discounted adjustments
Transfer from fixed assets
Utilised in year

At 31 December 2022

23,460

2022 2021

£000 £000

(15,794) (6.990)

(4,454) (7,133)

7,141 (1,671)

(13,107) ~  (15,794)

2022 2021

£000 £000

(337) 13,617

726 - 917

(13,496) (20,328)

(13107)  (15,794)

: Carbon '
Restoration emission Other

. provisions  provisions  provisions Total
£000 “£000 £000 . £000

4190 28,496 2,016 34,702

- - 827 - 827

(59) - - (59)
. (137) - - (137) -
(585) (5,036) - (5,621)

3,409 2,843 29,712
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22.

23.

24.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Provisions (contmued)
Restoration provisions

Restoration provisions relate mainly to the costs of restoring quarries and other sites after use as required

by legal or other constructive’ requirements. Restoration and environmental provrsrons will be utilised as

and when mineral reserves at the Companys quarrles are extinguished.

Provisions for terminal restoration have been discounted at 3.665% (2021 - 1.152%) per annum on
" current prices and where appropriate have been established after taking account of the advice of suitably -

qualified and experienced consultants and after’ establlshlng the costs in line wrth current practice and
standards. AII amounts greater than 12 months aré discounted. :

Carbon emission provrsrons

Carbon ‘Emission provisions relate to the obligation to return emission rights. These obligations.are
recognised if the actual C02 emissions up to the reporting date are not covered by emission rights granted

free of charge The amount of provision for emission rights already acquired for considerationis measured

at the carrying amount and, for emission rights yet to be acquired in order to fulfil the obligation, at the
market value per the European Union's Emissions Trading System as at the reporting date. Amounts have
not been discounted as they are expected to be realised in less than twelve months.

‘Other provisions

This relates pnmarlly to the specific provision held for required works improvements as well as clalms for

. defective materials. Amounts have not been discounted as they are expected to be released in less than .
- twenty-four months and dlscountlng will not be material. . - :

Share capital

2022 . 2021

£000 . £000
Allotted, called up and fully pald L ‘ » : L
70,000,000 (2021 70,000 OOO) ordinary shares Of £1 each 70,000 ’ 70,000 -

" The Company has no aUthorieed share capital Iimit.‘

Contingent liabilities

" A subsidiary company has an obiigation to undertake decontamination work which the Company has

guaranteed. At present it is not practical to estimate the liability due to the significant uncertainty regardlng
the I|ker cost of the remedial work together with the t|m|ng of any payment. .

"The Company has been notrfred of a number of claims from former employees in relation te‘alleged health

related issues. The Directors do not consider it probable that an outflow of economic resources will be

' required to settle the obligation nor can the amount of any obligation be measured with sufficient reliability. -
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25,

Pension commitments

~Main Scheme

Dunng the year, the Company participated in the Castle Pension Scheme -(the "Main Scheme") and

" relevant employees are eligible for benefits under the main scheme, which is of the defined beneflt type.
Funds are held externally under the supervision of the corporate trustee. : - '

The results of the latest funding valuatlon at 31 December 2021 have been adjusted to the balance sheet
date by an independent actuary from AON Hewitt Limited taking account of experience over the period
since 31 December 2021, changes in market conditions, and differences in the financial and demographic -
assumptions. The present value of the defined benefit ‘obligation, and the related current service cost,
were measured using the Projécted Unit Credit Method. There were no plan amendments, curtailments.or’
settlements in the year. The duration of the defined benefit obligation is 12.9 years. :

The assets and liabilities of the Mam Scheme at 31 December are: -

Main Scheme assets at fair value

Cash and cash equivalents

Equity
: Denvatlves

Normal government bonds
Normal corporaté bonds
Index linked bonds -

Real estate

- Other

Fair value of Main_,,Scheme assets
Present value of Main Scheme liabilities

Defined benefit Main Scheme asset -

2022

The Main Scheme was closed to future accruals in September 2010 Maln Scheme assets are stated at
thelr market values at the respectlve Balance Sheet dates.

2021
£000 £000
8,062 126,804

39,243 41,763

- 34,114

$ 33,791 14,391

. 56,170  ° 69599

87,348 45,928
14,977 17,391 .

- 18,521

239,591 368,511
_ (185:607)  (287,201)

53,984

81,310 -
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Pension commi_tments (conntinued)

Scheme assets can be further gisaggregated as:

Equity : ) :

Investments of £12 226,000 are in an equity pooled investment vehicle with indirectly observable inputs.

The remaining investments totalling £27,017,000 are in an infrastructure equity pooled investment vehicle
. with inputs that are unobservable. :

;Normal government bonds :

Investments of £33,791,000 are in a gilt pooled investment. vehlcle and £5 076, 000 are in an a sterling
liquidity pooled investment vehicle. Both investment vehicles have indirectly observable inputs.

Normal corporate bonds g

Investments of £56,170,000 are in a corporate bond Buy & Mamtaln pooled lnvestment ‘vehicle wrth
lndlrectly observable inputs. v

" Index linked bonds : -
Investments of £87,348,000 are in index- linked gilt pooled mvestment vehlcles wrth |nd|rectly observable
inputs. . . .

Real estate o
Investments of £14,977 are in property pooled mvestment vehlcles wrth inputs that are unobservable

* The Company and Trustees have agreed a long-term strategy for reducmg investment nsk as and when
appropriate. This includes an asset-liability matching policy which aims to reduce the volatility of -the
funding level of the Main Scheme by investing in assets such as swaps which perform in line with the
liabilities of the Main Scheme so as to protect against inflation being higher than expected. :

The Trustees aims to achieve the Main Scheme’s investment objectives through investing partty in a

diversified mix of growth assets which, over the long.term, are expected to grow in value by more than .

low risk assets like cash and gilts. This is done within a broad liability driven investing framework that
_uses cash, gilts and other hedging instruments like swaps in a capital efficient way. In combination this -
- efficiently captures the trustee risk tolerances and return objectives’ relative to the Main Scheme's
liabilities. "/A number of investment managers are appomted to. promote diversification by assets,
"~ organisation and investment style.

The Main Scheme has not invested directly in any of the Company's own financial instruments nor in
properties or other assets used by the Company. : : '
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25.

Pension commitments (continued)

Included within the Statement of Comp‘rehénsive Inéome[(expense)

Expected réturn on Main Scheme assets
Interest on Main Scheme liabilities

Included within other financevincome .

" Administrative expenses

Total

" Included within-Other Cdmprehensiye Inéomel(expense) '

' ‘Actuarial (gain)/loss on Main Scheme asséts '
- Actuarial (gain)/loss from changes in financial assumptions

Actuarial experience loss/(gain)
Actuarial (gain)/loss from demographic assumptions

Toial actuarial (gain)/loss »

2021

2022
£000 £000
(7,247) (4,756)
5,625 3,985
(1,622) - (771)
' 384 341
(1,238) (430)
2022 . 2021
"£000 £000
123,893 . (4,979)
(98,304) (18,856)
' 5,573 3,160
- (2,598) (740)
28,564

(21,415)
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25,

"Pension commitments (continAued)

eranges'in present value of the defined benefit obligations are analysed as follows:

2021

.2022
£000 £000
Opening deflned beneflt obllgatlon ' . A o . - 287,201 313,429
Interest cost : ' : 5,625 3,985
Actuarial (gains)/losses . o ' (95,329)' (16,436)
Benefits paid : .' - ) (11,890)  (13,777) .
Closing defined benefit obligation . - - - - _ - : 185,607 ' 287,201 .
-The main actuarial -as"sumptioné used in the valuation are set out below:
2022 2021
: : L% "%
Rate of increase in penSIon payments ' o 297 3.16
Discount rate _ - ’ 4.80 2.00
RPI inflation assumption - ' o T . .3.20 3.30
CPI mflatlon assumptlon ' . ‘ - 260 275

The mortality assumptlons are based on recent actual mortallty expenence of members ‘within the Main. -

'Scheme ‘with an allowance for future improvements. The assumptions mean that a member currently

aged 65 is expected to live on average for a further 20.9 years if they are male (2021 - 21.4 years) and for

a further 23.1 years if they are female (2021 -23.4 years)

Fora member who retires in 2043 (2021 - 2042) at the age.of 65 the assumptions are that they will live oh_ _

average for a further 22.2 years after retirement if they are male (2021 - 22.8 years), and for a further 24.7

years after retirement if they are female (2021-- 25.2 years).

The sensmvnty of the present value of Maln Scheme liabilities to changes in the principal assumptlons

used is set out beIow

Change in assufnption ' - Impact on scheme Iiabilities-

Discount rate ~ Increase/ decrease 1% Decrease 11% / increase 14%
Rate of pension increase - Increase / decrease 0.25% - Increase 2% / decrease 2%

Life expectancy : Increase / decrease 1 year increase 4% / decrease 4%
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.25,

Pensuon commltments (contmued)
Changes in the fair value of the Mam Scheme assets are analysed as follows:

2022, 2021

" .£000 ~ £000
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year L o 368,511 372,864
" Expected return on plan assets ' ' ' B 7,247 - 4,756
Administrative expenses paid by the plan - ) . (384) (341)
~ Actuarial gain on plan assets ' : (123,893) 4,979
Employer contributions o . ' i - 30
Benefits paid from plan _ S (11,890) - (13,777)
- Total : | S 239,591 368,511
Amounts for the current and previous four years:
2022 2021 2020 - 2019 - 2018
£000 £000 - £000 £000 * £000
Fair value of Main Scheme ) - _ :
assets - . 239,591 368,511 372,864 348,108 326,507
Defined benefit obllgatlon - (185,607) | (287,201) (313,429) (278,167) (280,844)
Surplus/(deficit) in Main : : : -
Scheme T 53,984 81,310 . - 59,435 69,941 45,663
Experience gains/(losses) on ' ‘ » ' '
Main Scheme assets . (123,893) 4,979 32,250 25,055 (9,549)
Experience (losses)/gains on’ : ‘ . . ‘
‘Main Scheme liabilities * (5,573) (3,160) 2,903 15,640 . 2,934

* This item consists of gains/(losses) in respect of liability. expenence only and excludes any change in

* liabilities in respect of changes to the actuarlal assumptions used.

UK Ieglslatlon requires that pension schemes are funded. prudently The latest funding valuatlon was

carried out as at 31 December 2021. The valuation showed a surplus of £23.0million, therefore no deficit
recovery contributions-were required. Administrative' expenses, including levies payable to the Pensions
Protection Fund (PPF), are met by the ‘Scheme directly via a technical provisions funding reserve. The )
next fundlng valuation is due with an effective date no later than 31 December 2024.

The Company recogmses the Main Scheme surplus in accordance with the' requwements of IFRIC 14 .
"The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction”. The -
Trustees of the scheme do not have the unilateral right to commence wind-up of the scheme. Thus, the

. Company assumes that the scheme continues in existence until the last benefit payments are made to

members, at which point any residual assets are returned to the employer in line with the rules of the
scheme. . -

The Company is not yet clear on whether the IASB's proposed amendments to IFRIC 14 will affect its
ability to receive a refund of surplus in this situation. Once the amendments have been finalised, -

. management will review the likely impact.-
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, 26.

27,

,Related party transactlons .

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under paragraph 8(k) of FRS 101 not to disclose
transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries in the group headed by He|de|berg Materials AG. Balances
outstanding at 31 December W|th related parties, are as foliows ‘

T 2022 . 2021

£000 £000
Amounts owed by fellow subsidiary undertakings ’ o 14,715 15,198
Amounts owed by ultimate parent undertaking - ' - . 97,388 - 110,361
Amounts owed to direct subsidiary undertakings o (45,890) . (45,890)
"Amounts owed to indirect subsidiary undertakings - (15,945) (15,945)
Amounts owed to fellow subsidiary undertakings - - . (12,088) (12,227)

38,180 51,497

-Ultimate parent unde'rt'akirig and controlling party

The Company's immediate parent undertaking is HeidelbergCement UK Limited, a company registered in
England and Wales. The Company's ultimate parent undertaking is Heidelberg Materials AG, a company
registered in Germany.. The largest and smallest group in which the results of the Company are
consolidated is that headed by Heidelberg Materials AG. Copies of the. consolidated financial statements

. of Heidelberg Materials AG may be obtained from Berliner Strasse 6, D 69120 Heidelberg, Germany.
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